



**BYLAWS of the
Minnesota School Public Relations Association, Inc.
a Chapter of the National School Public Relations Association**

*Effective July 1, 2012 **

ARTICLE 1 – NAME AND AFFILIATION

The *name* of this organization shall be the Minnesota School Public Relations Association (MinnSPRA). This organization, or Chapter, shall be an *affiliate* of the National School Public Relations Association (NSPRA).

ARTICLE II – OBJECTIVES AND PURPOSES

Section 1. The *objectives* of MinnSPRA shall be to:

- Provide public relations leadership advocating public education;
- Offer high-quality professional development opportunities;
- Effectively serve its members.

Section 2. *Purposes.* Said corporation is organized exclusively for charitable, religious, educational or scientific purposes, and including for such purposes the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to, its members, directors, officers or other private persons, except that the corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensations for services rendered. No substantial part of the activities of the corporation shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the corporation shall not participate in or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office.

ARTICLE III – MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. *Members* are those who have a formal relationship with education, such as employees of educational institutions and agencies, school board members and parent organization officers, or those who are actively interested in advancing the cause of education.

Section 2. *Voting Privileges.* All members shall be eligible to vote.

* Incorporates Amendments approved 4/26/91, 12/9/91, 9/30/99, 7/1/01, 03/30/09, 3/16/12

ARTICLE IV – DUES

Annual *dues* of the organization shall be established by the Board of Directors. The membership year shall be July 1 through June 30. An applicant shall be a member from the time of payment through the end of the current membership year.

ARTICLE V – OFFICERS

Officers of MinnSPRA shall be members of the organization. The president, president-elect, treasurer and one other board member shall be members of the National School Public Relations Association (NSPRA); other officers and members are encouraged to be members of NSPRA. Officers shall be elected by mail or electronic ballot prior to that year's scheduled annual meeting and shall take office on July 1 of the year for which they are elected. The terms of office for the treasurer, secretary and membership coordinator shall be two years. The President-Elect shall serve one year as President-elect and then serve as President for one year. At the conclusion of the term as President, he/she will serve as Past-President for one year. Officers and their duties shall be:

- Section 1. ***President*** – shall be the executive director of the organization and shall preside at meetings of the organization, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. The president shall appoint the chairperson for all committees with the approval of the Board. The president shall convene the Annual Meeting. The president shall approve non-budgeted disbursements up to \$100. The president shall oversee development of an annual budget to be approved by the Board of Directors at the October meeting. The president shall maintain liaison with NSPRA through the NSPRA regional vice president and the NSPRA office.
- Section 2. ***Past-President*** – shall be the person immediately preceding the president in office and shall serve until the end of the term of office of his/her successor as president. The past-president shall perform such duties as assigned by the president.
- Section 3. ***President-Elect*** – shall perform all duties of the president in the event of the inability of the president to act. In addition, the president-elect shall perform duties as assigned by the president. The president-elect shall succeed the president when the president's term is completed. If the president-elect becomes president because of the president's incapacity or resignation, he/she will complete the remainder of the current term before beginning his/her own term. If the president-elect is not able to assume the duties of the president at the time of the president's incapacity or resignation, the executive committee shall develop and the board shall approve a process for an interim president to be appointed to fulfill the remainder of the president's term.
- Section 4. ***Treasurer*** – shall keep records of funds, provide a financial statement at each meeting of the Board of Directors and annually to the membership, and disburse organization funds in accordance with the annual budget according to these bylaws. The treasurer's books shall be audited and a report made to the president and the Board of Directors by the audit committee no later than the November Board meeting. This shall be a two-year term beginning spring 2001, staggered with the membership coordinator position.
- Section 5. ***Secretary*** – shall keep minutes of all meetings and shall distribute such minutes to each member of the Board of Directors, shall assist in handling organization correspondence, and shall be responsible for notification of meetings. This shall be a two-year term beginning spring 2010.

Section 6. **Membership coordinator** – shall manage all matters relating to membership, including member database, member brochure development, member solicitations and directory production. This shall be a two-year term beginning spring 2000, staggered with the treasurer position.

ARTICLE VI – BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 1. **Board of Directors** – The governing body of the organization shall be the Board of Directors. Members of the organization shall be eligible for election to the Board of Directors. The Board shall include the five elected officers of the organization, the past-president, and six directors. The term of a Director shall be for two years. Three directors, the secretary and the membership coordinator shall be elected each even year; three directors and the treasurer shall be elected each odd year. The president may appoint to the Board one additional director for a one-year term whose expertise would be of special assistance to the Board. The presidential appointee does not need to be a member of MinnSPRA.

Section 2. **Executive Committee** – The Executive Committee shall consist of the president, who shall act as chair, past-president, president-elect, secretary, treasurer and membership coordinator. The Executive Committee shall assist the president in the conduct of Chapter affairs between scheduled meetings of the membership and the Board of Directors.

Section 3. **Vacancies** – the Board of Directors shall fill any vacancies in the offices of president-elect, secretary, treasurer or directors until the next election.

Section 4. **Inactivity** – the Board of Directors may consider removal of a director or officer who fails to attend (either physically or by electronic means) three (3) consecutive Board meetings. Failure to attend four (4) consecutive Board meetings shall cause that person to cease being a member of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII – ELECTIONS

Officers and members of the Board of Directors shall be **elected** by mail or electronic ballot. Such ballots shall be distributed to all current Chapter members at least 30 days prior to that year's scheduled annual meeting and returned no later than seven days prior to such meeting.

Nominating Committee. The nominating committee shall consist of the past-president, who shall serve as the chair, and three MinnSPRA members who shall be recommended to the Board by the past-president for approval.

ARTICLE VIII – MEETINGS

Section 1. Meetings of the organization shall be held at such times and places as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. One of these meetings shall be designated by the Board as the annual meeting, to be held no later than May 31. The voting members present at an organization meeting shall constitute a quorum. The secretary shall notify all members of organization meetings in writing and at least 30 days in advance of the meeting date.

Section 2. The Board of Directors shall meet on notice from the president. A majority of the Board present (either physically or electronically) shall constitute a quorum.

Section 3. The Executive Committee shall meet on call of any of its members.

ARTICLE IX – COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSONS

Committee chairpersons shall be appointed at the discretion of the president with the approval of the Board. Committee members shall be selected by the chairperson.

ARTICLE X – DISSOLUTION

In the event of dissolution, any remaining assets shall be distributed to organizations organized and operated exclusively for charitable, educational, religious or scientific purposes as shall at the time qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

ARTICLE XI – AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be amended by voting members in three ways: either by a vote of members present at any regular organization meeting, by a mail ballot, or by electronic communication. In any case, all voting members shall receive 30 days' notice in writing of the proposed amendment. At a Chapter meeting, the amendment must be approved by two-thirds of the those voting members present. By mail or electronic communication, the amendment must be approved by a number equivalent to two-thirds of those voting. After Chapter approval, an amendment shall be approved by the National School Public Relations Association before it becomes effective.